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Mary E.GOrdon and her cargo was from '18,000 to '19,000. Her
service made her late for the tide at Mamaroneck, and delayed her
about eight or nine hours in reaching her dock; and the devia.tion
increased her responsibilities by affecting her insurance. The serv-
ice, however, was not one involving any great danger to herself,
though she suffered some damage to her house.
Taldng all the circumstances into account, I think that '1,800 will

be a suitable award.
A decree may be entered accordingly, with costs.

I .

THE SIRIUS.
OEDROS ISLAND MIN. & MILl•. CO. (LOWE et al., Interveners) Y. THIll

SIRIUS.
(District Court. N. D. California. January 8, 1893.)

No. 10,292-
I. 8ALVAGE-CoNTRAcr FOR TOWAGE-DURES8-AMOUXT OP COMPENSATION.

Ou a libel on contract for salvage services rendered by the steam
schooner Tillamook to the steamer Sirius, the evidence showed that the
Sirius, baving lost her propeller and part of ber shaft, was placed under
such sail as she h.'ld, and, after drifting for three days, was anchored in
a bay of an island off the coast of lower california; that she was in a dan-
gerous position, as she eQuid not get an 01llng with ber smail sail power,
and in case of a southerly gale might go ashore; that the master of the
Tillamook, wblch came to her assistance, proposed either to tow her to
San Diego for $20,000, or to furnish stores and gratuitously take an otll-
cer to San Diego to prccure assistance; that the original purpose of the
master of the Sirius was to send to San Diego for nssistance; that he was
positive his position was safe, and that he could get to sea before a
southerly storm became dangerous; that he decided not to send an otllcer
to San Diego, as he wished to avoid lengthening his voyage; that he
clalnired that $20,000 for the towage services was unreasonable and ex-
orbitant, and proposed either a reduction in the charge, or arbitration, or
to leave the question to the owners to !Iettle; that his propositions were re-
jected by the master of the Tillamook, whose vessel, with its small engines,
might become disabled or too greatly strained by towing the Sirius, whioh
was much larger; that the negotiations occupied an hour and a half;
that the oontract for the towage services at $20,000, contingent on suc-
cess, was drawn by the purser of the Sirius, and subsequently signed by
her master; and that the Tillamook was valued at $32,000, and the salved
property at $143,539. Held, that the situation of the master of the Sirius
did not force him into the agreement, and the contract was not made under
duress; and that the compensation prOVided for the service, though high, was
not so unrE:asonable in amount as to justify the court In setting the contraC1J
aside as wholly inequitable and unjust. The Wellington, 48 Fed. Rep.
478, and The Agnes I. Grace, 51 Fed. Rep. 958, 2 C. C. A. 581, followed.

.. SAME-AppORTIONMENT.
The award of $20,000 under the contract was distributed among the

. wvors by the court as follows: $13,250 to the charterers of the Tilla-
mook, which was the principal factor In performing the salvage services,
and assumed the risk of failure and disaster; $2,500 to the master of the
TUlamook, who promptly procured additional stores for the Sirius, offered
to go to San Di(,go at once for assistance, and undertook the towage servo
ice against the protest of two of his passengers; and $4,250 to the other
officers and crew of the v€ssel,. according to their relations to the service
pel'formed, their extra work, and their regular wagello



612 FEDERAL vol. 53.

In Libel 'by the Cedros Island Mining & Milling Com-
pany against the British steamer Sirius, her freight and cargo, upon
a contract f()r salvage. Decree for libelant.
George Fuller and Walter G. Holmes, for libelant.
H. W. Hutton, for interveners.
Andros & Frank and Page & Eells, for claimants of the cargo.
E. W.McGraw, for claimant of the steamer and freight.

MORROW, District Judge. This is an action upon a contract for a
salvage service. rendered to the British steamer Sirius by the Ameri-
can steam schooner 'l'illamook. On the 20th day of February, 1892,
the steamer Sirius, then on a voyage from Central American ports to
San Francisco, and while off the coast of lower California, lost ber
propeIlerand part of'the shaft at a point abou.t 45 niiles northward
of Cerros island (sometimes called "Cedros" island.) The vessel was
steaming northward at the time of the accident. The weather was
pleasant, with the wind light from the northwest. The vessel was
placed under such sail as she had, and, after drifting about for three
days, she was anchored. in South bay, at the south end of Cerros
island, having returned south on her course about 75 miles. Cerros
island is 25 mUes in .length, extending along the coast of Lower Cali-
fornia, andjs under the jurisdiction of Mexico. It is about 60 miles
due west from the mainland, but a point of the mainland makes up
from the south to within 12 miles of the so;uth end of the island. To
the west of Cerros island, and at a distance of about 15 miles, are the
small isiands.of San Benito. Vessels making voyages up or down the
coast inside.,between Cerros island and the mainland, or
between Oerros island and the San Benito islands, or entirely out-
side and west of the latter islands.
When. the steamer /Sirius came to anchor at South bay, the steam

schooner 'fillamook, under charter to the libelant, was lying at anchor
near a mining camp at the northea.'Sterly end of Cerros island about
30 miles by sea from South bay. The Tillamook was a freight vessel,
but at this time she appears to have been carrying passengers from
San Diego to the mining camp on the island, and return by way of
Enrenada, in Lower' California. Ensenada is the port of entry for
Cerros island, and vessels making voyages froni the latter place to
San Diego are required to. clear from Ensenada. The Tillamook
usually made the voyage from the mining camp to Ensenada, a dis-
tance of 237 miles, in 30 hours, and from Ensenada to San Diego, a
distance, of 60 miles, in 8 hours. The next morning after the Sirius
came to anchor in South bay, the master sent the purser, Mr. Brew-
ster, in a small boat up to the mining camp, expecting to find a
steamer there by which information could be sent to San Diego con-
cerning the condition of the Sirius and her need of assistance. The
purser of the Sirius reached the Tillamook about 4 o'clock on the after-
noon of. February 24th, boarded her, and reported to her master,
Capt. Hatiun,' that the Sirius was at South bay in distress, with her
shaft broken, propeller lost, short of stores, and in need of assist-
ance. Capt. Hamm and the purser proceeded ashore, and procured
Imitable stores, which they placed in the boat, intending to send the
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boat with the stores back to South bay in the morning. The stores
consisted of two barrels of beef, 3 1·4 bags of flour, 2 bags of potatoes,
and 1·2 box of tobacco,lUld were intended to last the Sirius for 10
days. It appears that there were passengers at the mining camp
whom Capt. Hamm desired to consult before he could determine what
he could do in the way of rendering assistance to the Sirius. He ap·
pears to have seen two of them, who protested against the use of the
Tillamook in rendering such assistance, as it would delay their return
to San Diego. The next morning, February 25th, Capt. Hamm con·
eluded that it would be too hard a pull for the men to return in the
small boat, and accordingly he took them, with their boats and stores,
on board the Tillamook, and steamed down to South bay, where the,y
arrived about noon. Capt. Hamm went 'at once on board the Sirius,
and was introduced by the purser to Capt. Gregory, the master. A
conversation followed between the two masters concerning the tow-
age of the Sirius by the Tillamook to San Diego. The negotiations
'inally terminated in the following written agreement:

"S. S. Sirius, February 25th, 1892.
"It is hereby agreed between Captain H. S. Hamm, captain and master (}t

S. S. Tillam(}ok, and Captain H. M:. Gregory, captain and master of Br. S. S.
Silins, that the master of the steamship Tillamook will tow the S. S. Sirius: to
a safe anchorage in the harbor of San Diego for the sum of twenty thousand
dollars U. S. gold coin, 10 be paid in San Francisco by said master of S. 8.
l:';hiu8 on account of owners.

"H. S. Hamm, Master of S. S. Tillamook.
"H. M. Gregory, ]'iaster of S. S. Sirius.

"Witness:
"Benj. Harrison.
"D. G. Brewster.

"All coal and necessary help to be furnished by the S. S. Sirius."

This agreement was executed in triplicate; the captain of the Tilla'
mook taking two copies,--one for the owners of the vessel, an1 one for
the charterer. 'l'he other copy was taken by the master of the Sirius.
The Tillamook thereupon furnished a hawser to the Sirius, and, tak'
ing that vessel in tow, at about 2 o'clock in the afternoon, steamed up
to the neal" the mining camp at the north of the island,
where the Sirius was anchored, at about 7 o'clock and 20 minutes in
the evening, and the two vessels remained over night, the Tillamook
going alongside of the Sirius, and taking 17 tons of coal from the
latter as a precautionary measure in case of bad weather, and then
standing by with steam up the remainder of the night. The next
morning, February 26th, the Tillamook took on board 18 passengers,
and, again taking the Sirius in tow, proceeded to San Diego, where
the vessels arrived, and the Sirius was safely anchored, on the morn-
ing of March 1st. The voyage from the anchorage near the mining
camp on Cerros island to San Diego had occupied about 93 hours or
a few hours less than 4 days. The Tillamook having performed her
part of the contract, the libelant, at San Francisco, demanded of the
master and agents of the owner of the Sirius the sum agreed upon to
be paid for the service rendered, and payment was refused.' The
Sirius is an iron steamer, 852 tons register, 258 feet in length, 26 feet
beam, with 2 masts, a fore-topsail, and fore and mainstay
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no ,nainsaa The vessel 'Was valued at $30\OOO,'.her cargo at
and bel' money amounted to$1,539;itotal value of

l5..1Ved property, $143,539. The TillanlOok iaa.wooden steam schooner,
209, tons 126 feet· in length, 32 feet beam. :Her value was
f32,OOO,· The foregoing statement eonst,itutes the principal facts in
theCl¥le,about which there is no controversy.
Tlleagent of the owner, inltis answer to the libel,denies his obli-

gatiQJ1,qppn the contract, and alleges that the facts. connected with
the the Tilla,nook were as follows:
"On.fue :;l5th day ot Febreary, 1892, the steamer SiriuA, with a broken shatt,

bel' prppeHel' iost, and ¢erebYd!sabled, was lying sately· at anchor at Cedros
Island. ,_ .With the winds. then prevailing she could have lain' there safely tor
all time tc;> come. She had on !:>oard a valuable cargo. A change ot wind to
the southward might have placed the ship and her cargo ina precarious and
dangerous ,position, either driving her ashore, or forcing her to put to sea, to
drift the wind. It would have taken considerable time to procure as-
slstlp;l(l9 from San Diego, which was the nearest port at whlcll :a tug could be
found. -Under these circumstances the master of the Tillamook demanded and
insisted that the master of the Sirius should contract to pay him the sum ot

fqrtowlng the Slrlus,to Slln Diego, ilnd absolutely refused to tow the
Sil'IllS unless such contract was made. The. said master of the Sirius remon·
stril,tl'ti against said demand as exorbitant and unjust, but the master ot the
·.nUllmook refused to undertake the service tor a less sum, .and threatened to
leuve said steamshipSiriUll ,where 'she lay unless his said demand was acceded
to; and theretore the master of the Sirius, realizing :that said steamer, by
reason 'of the loss ot the propeller, and of the tact that she had only limited
salling her distance from other assistance, l,Uld by reason ot the tact
thatshewaslylng on 11-. roadstead open to the southward, was in a position
which With, a· change ot wind· might be dangerous, and that, by remalnlng in
said [I•.•f;!tiOU until other assistance could be procured, !1vell and property
on board might possibly be endangered or lost, solely tor the purpose ot avoid-
Ing any turther risk, and because ot the compulsion placed on him, agreed in
form with the master ot the Tillamook to pay the demand atoresaid; but this
elaJmant avers that said agreement was torced upon said master ot the 8ir-
Ius 88 atoresa1d, and that, it was not voluntarily made, but was made undel'
duress" and tlUlt the same was and is void."
The amount specified in the oontract for the service rendered by

the Tillamook appears large, as viewed now, in the light of the favor-
able circumstances under which the service was performed, but this
fact alone is not sufficient to set aside the contract as void. In The
Helen and Swab. 368, Dr. Lushington stated the rule respect-
ingeontracts for salvage service as follows:
"The prinCiple on which the court acts is that, if satisfied that an agreement

has been made, It will carry it into e:t'felJt unless totslly contrary to justice and
the. equity ot the case; but the owner ot the ship against whom the agree·

is attempted to be enforced may show that it was improperly obtained.
The owner may c(,ntend that, under the circumstances, the sum ot money was
grossly exorbitant, and a fortiori, if he can show that the agreement was ob-
tained by tmud or compulsion, no court would hold it to be binding; but, when
the execution ot such an Instl'\lwent is once proved, it Is prima tacle binding,
and the burden of proof falls on those who dispute the validity ot the instrn-
meat." ,
This case WB,$ recently cited and followed as authority by the cir-

cuit coUl,'t of appeals for the fifth circuit, in the case of The Agnes 1.
Grace, 51 Fed. Rep. 958, 2 C. C. A. 581. It was also cited by the suo
preme court-in the case of The Tornado, 109 U. S. 110--117, 3 Sup.
at. Rep. 78, where it was said that "every agreement for salva&,!
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compensation is subject, as to amount, to the judgment of the court
as to its being equitable and conformable to the merits of the case."
It will be observed, however, on examination of the last case, that
thjs brief sentence was intended only as a reference to the rule stated
in the opinion of Dr. Lushington and by the other authorities cited.
The question involved in the case did not require anything more.
In Post v. Jones. 19 How. 150·-160, a. rule is stated respecting con·

tracts for salvage service which, although not necessary to the de·
termination of that case, has been frequently referred to. as an au·
thority in this class of cases. It is as follows:
"Courts of admiralty will enforce contracts made for salvage service and

salvage compensation Where the salvor has not taken advantage of his power
to make an unreasonable bargain; but will not tolerate the doctrine
that a salvor can take the advantage of his situation, and avail himself of the
calamities of others to drive a bargain, nor will thE\y permit the performance
ofa public duty to be turned into 8· traffic of profit."

In the case of The Wellington, 48 Fed. Rep. 478, Judge Ross, sitting
in this court, said: ''No one doubts that, when the circumstances of
a case render such action proper, a court of admiralty will refuse to
enforce a contract made for salvage services;" but he held that, al·
though the sum of $15,000, stipulated in the contract then under con-
sideration, was undoubtedly too large for the service in that case, he
did not think it was so exorbitant as to justify the court in setting
aside the contract thus made. Without further discussing the au·
thorities on this subject, we will now proceed to consider the testi-
mony, for the purpose of determining the situation of the parties and
the circumstances attending the making of the contract in the pres-
ent case.
In the testimony of Capt. Hamm, of the Tillamook, the transaction

is related as follows: After referring to the arrival of the purser of
the Sirius at the anchorage near the mining camp asking for assist·
ance, and the departure of the Tillamook the next morning for South
bay, he says:
"I reached Sonth bay. where 1 lowered the boat down,-the boat of the Sir-

ius, not my own boat. 1 turned my vessel over to my chief officer, went
aboard the SiriUS, and saw Captain Gregory. We had a few words, talking,
and he asked me the price. I said: 'My vessel is too small to tow you up.
I do not know if I can do it. If I have to charge, 1 have to charge that price,
wWch is $20,000;' but I said: 'If you do not want to do that, we will leave that
ovel' to the court, and let the court decide what price 1 shall have.' But he
declined. He said: 'No; what other offer can you give me.' I said: 'I will
give you more stores from Cedros island, and then I will take your purser or
mate, or whoever you want me to take, and go up to San Diego or Ensenada,
where you can telegraph and call for assistance.' During that time he told me
that 1 should wait an hour or so, so that he could write letters to his owners.
I told him 1 would do so. 1 went out of his room, and I stayed for an hour and
It half talking to my €-ngineer, who was now on board the steamer Sirius. He
was previously on board the Tillamook,-Mr. Harris. In an hour's time Cap-
tain Gregory called me in, and said he agreed to take that tow for the amount
1 said. He drew up the agreement personallY,-that is, the purser did. He
was standing on one side, and I was standing on the other. Question. How
lllany copies were drawn 'I Answer. I drew three. Q. You drew them, or he?
A. 1.'he purser did. 1 demanded three,-one for my owners, one for my char-
ter party, and one that the captain could keep personally. He signed all
three."

_.- - -- -_.-
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agreement having been identified, the witness is asked:
the signatures, captain, are these words: 'All coal and help nec-

be furnished by the steamship Sirius without charge?' Answer. It
lVas.9u.estion. I will ask you if that was an afterthought. or what'! A. No,
sir;,we that, but the purser kind of neglected to put it in until I
signed my name. The captain was VeI1' willing to come to that: Q. Then tWs
coal and help branch of it was part and parcel of the proposition before it
walil.drawnup? A .. Yes, sir. Q.It was slmplyomitted by the purser in draw-
ing the boctr of it, and afterwards apllended? A. Yes, sir."

The'witness was very closely as to the conversa-
tion that took place between himself and Capt. Gregory prior to the
$igning of the towage agreement. At :first he omits to mention the
proposUion, which he claims to have made, to leave the matter of
co;mp'et1sation to the court, but) being pressed to repeat all that was
sa,iq?,p.,ere.calls it, and states it as follows:
"Before we signed the agreement, he aSYei:l me if I would ieave this $20,000

business, and not charge and take the vbs<lelup and leave it to arbitration.
I no; I would lElave it tO'the court. Q. Whfm was this? A. Just be-
fore agreement was made. Q. He asked you, then, if you would leave
it' to. arbitration? A, Yes, sir. I told him I would take the vessel up as
good asI could, and leave it to the court."

•. Later the witness was further cross-examined as to what he
had said· to the attorneys on this subject, and particularly as to the
time when he first told them that he suggested to Capt. Gregory to
leave ,the compensation for the towage service to the cO'Urt. In reply
to this inquiry he stated that he told Mr. Fuller about it at San Diego
on the 1st of March. This was the same day that the Tillamook
arrived at San Diego with the Sirius in tow, and before any contro-
versy arose as to the payment of the amount provided in the agree-

Mr. Fuller was the attorney for the libelant, and was present
in 'Pourt during- the trial of the case, but was not called by the re-
spondents to confirm· Qr contradict the statement made by Capt.
ij#:n:un.: ' The foregoing testimony was delivered in court on the '
day of April, 1892.
The deposition of Capt. Gregory was taken on the 21st day of April,

1892, or just a week previous to the trial. He relates the conversa-
t!on between himself and Capt. Hamm as follows:
"I had a conversation with Captain Hamm in my own room in the presence

of the purser, in which 'I asked Wm what he was going to charge me to take
me to San 'Diego. He informed me $20,000. I told him the price was exorbi-
tant, and asked him if he would make any reduction in it. He told me he
would not. He said, '$20,000 or nothing,' I then asked him if he would sub-
mit the matter to arbitration. He refused. I asked him if he would submit
it to the owners to settle. He refused. He informed me that he had no time
to talk to me; that he wanted to get back to the mining camp, and said if I
did not talk quick he would leave. I then asked him if he would take an offi-
eel' up to San Diego with him when he went, and he said he would. Question.
'rhat is, in the event of leaving you? Answer. Yes, sir; in the event of leaving
me he said he 'Would. He left my room, and started for his boat. Seeing that he
was determined to leave me, I called him back, and told him I should be
obliged to accept the service, and to give me a tow line. Q. A tow line was
then passed? A. Yes, sir; it was then passed. Q. At what time? A. It was
aboutifive minutes before noon,"

witness makes no mention of the written agreement, and evi-
dentlyseeks to convey the impression that the whole transaction
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occupied but a few minutes, which he fixes as a point of time at five
minutes before noon.
On cross-examination the witness is asked:
"Why did you not take advantage of the offer of the master of the Tilla-

mook to send an officer to San Diego to allow him to negotiate for some Oile
else? Answer. On account of the loss of time. Question. Is that the only
reason? A. Yes, sir: that is the only reason. Q. There is no other reason? A.
No, sir; except to get my ship out of that position. In case southerly weather
came up, I would have been compelled to go to sea. I would not have lost my
ship, because I w0uld have gone to sea upon the first indication of bad weather.
Q. One of the reasons, if I understand you, for not taking advantage of that of-
fer, was the danger of southerly winds while lying at the place you call 'South
Bay?' A. Not so much that, as to avoid lengthening my voyage. I should
have gone to sea there at the first indication of any southerly weather. Q.
Had you sail power suflicient to go to sea in a southedy storm'! A. Yes, sir;
I would have to go to sea at the very first indication of bad weather. A soutb-
erly storm always gives some indication beforehand. Q. Had you sail power
sufficient to go to sEa? A. Yes, sir; I could have drifted about, and made my
way into Magdalena Bay."

Mr. Brewster, the purser of the Sirius, in his deposition, also
on the 21st day of April, 1892, testifies concerning the interview :be-
tween the two captains as follows; .
"They shook hands, and after I liad introduced Captain Hamm he says:

'Well, you want a tow?' ClltVtain Gregory says: 'Yes.' Captain Hamm says:
'I will tow you for $20,000.' Captain Gregory says: "Chat is an outrageous
price. you tow me any cheaper than that?' Captain Hamm says: 'No;
not a cent cheaper.' Captain Gregory says: 'Will you leave it to arbitration
in San !,'rancisco?' Captain Hamm says: 'No.' Captain Gregory says: 'Will
you submit it to our own owners, and allow them to settle it?' Question. That
is, to the owners of both ships? Answer. Yes, sir; to the owners of both ships.
Captain Hamm says: 'No; I wont.' He says: 'I have not got much time: yOll
must hurry: I am going to get out. I will take the purser to San Diego if he
wants to gl), but I have to get out, and I W'Ult you to hUrry up, too.' Captain
Hamm then left the room, and Captain Gregory considered the matter awhile,
and called him again, and almost precisely the same language was used, and
finally Captain GregolY instructed me to draw up an agreement. Q. Was such
an agreement drawn? A. Yes, sir. Q. Was it sigued? A. Yes, sir. Q. And
taken by Captain Hamm? A. Yes, sir; taken by Captain Hamm,-two copies by
bim, and one copy by Captain Gregory. Q. Then did the Tillamook pass her
line over? A. Yes, sir. Q. And you started in to tow? A. Yes, sir."

On cross-examination, this witness was asked-
"What Captain Gregory said, if anything, when Captain Hamm offered to take
the witness on his return, so that he could get such assistance as he chooses.
Answer. He said he wanted to have a minute by himself, so he could converse
with me about the matter, I being purser and one of the officers, and he and I
were talking about the matter. Question. Did he have a few minutes conversa-
tion with you? A. Yes, sir. He asked me, as I had seen the San Diego papel'l!l
which I got from the Tillamook, about the sailing of different ships. Q. And he
rejected that offer subsequently? A. Yes, sir. He naturally rejected the offer
for me to go by the Tillamook, because he took the tow. Q. Did he say any-
thing, in that conversation to you, about it being best to accept that offer
becausu there was danger in lying at South bay in case of a southerly storm'!
A. He did not say anything of the kind. It was simply a question of getting
that ship and cargo to port as quickly as possible.- He said it was an outrage,
with the usual language and siang of a sallor's vocabulary that they generally
indulge in. * * * Q. You spoke of having received San Diego papers from
the Tillamook? A. Yes, sir. Q. What had their contents to do with your go-
ing to San Diego on the Tillamook for assistance? A. We found out that the
sailing days of the Newbern had changed, and also the City of Panama, the
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Wegeneraly know the ca.ptains of the differelltsteamers, and
how they generally take the coast. This steamer l;eneraUy. k;ept outside. Q.
COUld you have got assistance at San Diego? A. Yes, sir." ,

:&eftlrrip.g again to the deposition of Capt. Gregory, we find that
on cross-examination he was asked about the probability of obtaining
aS$istalUle from one of these passing steamers, as follows:
"QiuhstlQll. When Captain Hamm declined to assist you for a less price than

$20,()()(), '!hy did you not reject that offer, and patrol the passages inside, and
the same.; outside, hoping to get a passenger lilteamer that would not make
such a charge? Answer. For the reason that the Newbern was the only

down, and her sailing days had been changed from the 25th to
the 1st oftPe month, and for the reason that Ilmew the Panama, or, rather,
I was that she went a long distance outside of the Benito islands. Those
were .the only two ships thfln due forsorne time. Q. Do the Panama steamers
go msi,de or outside? A, ,As a l'ule, outsille the Benito islands. Q. Is the
Cerrosisland one of the Benito islands? A. No, sir. Q. Where are they? A.
I tb,in,k are 12 or 15 miles outside of the ,Cerros islands. To have inter·

her 'I would have been obliged to risk' an open boat at sea for an in-
definite length of time."

was also called as a witness at the trial, and, after
identifYing his position at South bay on a map,and declaring that he
could have got out of there in a southeast wind "unless the gale had
come ,end first, which happens only was again
aSked :about the interview' with Capt. Hamm, and for the first time
hisatten:/;ii:m is called to the written contract,which at that time had
been read in evidence. He repeats substantially his former testi-
mony down to the point .where he says Capt. Hamm left his room or
cabin, and then he adds the following:
"I then turned to the purser and consulted with him 'about the matter. We

concludel1 ,that under the circumstances there was nothing to do but to accept
his terms.. There was Dn talk made at any time about referring the matter to
the court, or .anything of the sort. Of that I am strongly positive. It was
declined on arbitration. There was but one question that I was allowed to dis-
('uss, .and it was $20,000 or nothing. On that point I am positive. * * *
Q. Ii he had .proposed to submit that matter to the court, would you have ac-
cepted. that proposition? A, 1 don't J.{now whether I would or not, because the
(lourt awards upon it anyway; almost in every case of salvage it always comes
before the. CGurt as a rule. It is a predisposed case that the court is the party
that finally awards it; therefore it was not necessary to agree."

On the witness was asked how long Capt. Hamm
was on board his vessel.
"Answer, I caIinot tell you DOW. My log book will show about the time he

arrived on boa.rd and took my haws(·r. I think he came on board a little before
12 o'clock, lltidI thirik it was 1:58 when he took my hawser. Question. How
long a time elapsed between the time he left yourve.ssel and this agreement
was signed! and the time he took :t!J.e hawsar? A. I should suppose 20
minutes or a half an hour. Q. He was on board your vessel about an hour and.
a half? A. 'SomGWhere' in that neighoorhood,-more or less. I would not
specify the eXact minutes. I did not time the moment he entered my room and
the moment he left."

Mr. Brewster, the purser, WM also called and testified upon the
sub$tantially what he had said in his deposition con-

cernj#g ,;the 1.p.terViewbetween the two captains. Being asked, on
,hoW WM the conversation between Capt.

Gregory and ,the witness in' considering this offer, he says:
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"It mu,lilt have been 15 or 20 minutes. During that time the captain
atone time he would not take the tow. I went to my room to pack my valise
to go to San Diego on the Tillamook."
. Does this testimony establish the defense made by the owners of
the ship and cargo,-that this agreement was forced upon the master
of the Sirius, and was therefore made by him involuntarily and un-
der duress? In determining this question, it is contended on the
part od' the defense that the proposition claimed to have been made
by Capt. Hamm, to leave the question of compensation to the court,
must first be eliminated, because Capt. Gregory and Purser Brewster
have testified that the proposition was not made; but the impor-
tance of assuming that this proposition was not submitted to Capt.
GregOiI'Y is very much lessened by the fact that the latter, while
denying the offer, does not say it would have been accepted if made.
His testimony indicates very clearly that to him the terms offered
would not have been less oppressive if this proposition had been
made, since in his opinion the submission of the question to the c<\urt
was open to him in any event. We are dealing now not only with
the actual situation, but also with the state of mind under which
Capt. Gregory was acting when he signed the agreement. He knew
that, in the event the owners of the ship and cargo were not satisfied
with any agreement he might make, his situation was available to
them as a defense to any action that might be brought upon the con-
tract, and in such case he doubtless assumed that the award of the
court would not be greater, but might be less, than the amount of
compensation stipulated in the contract. There was therefore an
advantage in a written agreement which practically fixed the maxi-
mum limit to the coonpensation, over an agreement to submit the
question dil.'ectlvto .thecourt without such a limitation. Capt. Greg-
ory was seeking' the best terms he. could get. Capt. Hamm pro-
posed (1) to tow the Sirius· to San Diego for $20,000; (2) to furnish
more stores, and take an officer to Ensenada or San Diego for as-
sistance. About these two propositions there is no question, and un-
der the circumstances we may dismiss further consideration of the
offer of Capt. Hamm. to leave the question of compensatian to the
court. Capt. Gregory proposed. (1) reduction in the charge; (2) arbi-
tration; (3) to leave the question for the owners to settle. These
being rejected, it was then for him to determine which Qne of Capt.
Hamm's propositions he would accept. It appears to have been his
original purpose to send to San Diego for assistance. In his deposi-
tion he was asked this question by his counsel:
"Question. After dropping your anchor, what measures did you take to secure

the protection or relief of the vessel from her condition? Answer. By sending
a boat next moming at daylight to the mining camp, where I expected we
would find a steamer by which I could have got information to San Diego."
He did not, therefore, expect the Tillamook to come to his as·

sistance at South bay, but to take a message for him to San Diego,
where assistance could be procured, and where the owner could have
been informed by telegraph as to the condition of affairs. He saYli!
he was perfectly safe where he was at South bay unless a southerly
wind had sprung up, in which case he would have gone to sea, and
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proceeded on his course to San Diego. Capt. Gregory's original pur-
pose, to send: to San Diego for assistance was therefore, under the
circumstances, a reasonable and proper course to pursue, and we
are not surprised to find him still entertaining that view during the
pendency of negotiations with Capt. Hamm, when at one time he de-
termined not to take the tow, and the purser packed his valise to go
on the Tillamook to San Diego. It will be observed that Capt. Hamm
proposed to assist in carrying out this purpose, and he would do it
without, charge. Moreover, he would proceed at once on his return,
that there might be no delay in securing the necessary assistance.
He wQuldalso have secured additional stores for the Sirius, so that
there might be no danger of distress in that directiOll. There is cer-
tainly no evidence here that Capt. Hamm took advantage of his posi·
tion, :1;0 drive an unreasonable bargain, but, on the contrary, he ap-

to have been quite willing to render a service, deemed by Capt.
Gregory sufficient for the occasion without any compensation what-

MQreover, there was time given for deliberation, for thenego-
about one hour and a half. But when Capt. Hamm

cap1eto l1lake a bargain to use his own vessel for the purpose of tow-
ingthe' Sirius, he demanded $20,000 to tow that vessel to a safe
anchorage in the harbor of San Diego, and this demand, it is claimed,
was :unreasonable and exorbitant. The explanation given for this

that the Tillamook was considered too small to take the tow.
S\J.e Was puilt for a freight boat and not for a towage service. Her

wa,s small, that there might be more room for freight, and, in
towing a vessel of the size of the Sirius, the strain would be very
great. .The compensation was contingent upon success; The chance
of failqre ltlld disaster to such a vessel would be much greater than in
the easeofa vessel of:more power. It is true that, with favorable
weather, the service was actually performed without much difficulty;
but it required 93 hours to make the voyage from the anchorage at
the mining camp to San Diego, a distance of about 300 miles, and in
doing this the engineer testifies that an unusual strain was placed on
the engine in the use of live steam in the low-pressure cylinder. In
the ClJSe of bad weather there would have been great danger that
the Tillamook would herself have become disabled and liable for a
salv;tge senice. This explanation appears satisfactory, particularly
when it is coupled with the offer of Oapt. Hamm to take an officer to
Ensenada. or San Diego to procure other assistance. Then why did
Capt. Gregory submit to this demand which he denounced as unrea-
sonable and exorbitant? His testimony is that he did not send an
officer to San Diego because he wanted to avoid lengthening his voy-
age; in other words, he wanted to reach his port of destination as
soon as possible, and he entered into the agreement with that object

.
There is still another feature of this case to be notiaed. It was

established by a preponderance of testimony that the Sirius was really
in: a position at South bay; that she could not get an
offinl!' with the sail power she had, and, in the event of a southerly
gale coming up, she would inevitably have gone ashore. It appears,
also, was surrounded by kelp, which added to the danger of
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the situation. Capt. Gregory was, however, positive that he was in a
safe position, and could get to sea before such a storm would become
dangerous. His situation did not, therefore, operate to force him
into an agreement with Capt. Hamm, but the actual fact, as disclosed
by the testimony, may be taken into consideration in determining the
value of the service rendered by the Tillamook. The testimony does
not establish the claim that the contract was made under duress.
We come, now, to the final question whether, under all the circum-

stances, the amount charged was so exorbitant as to be totally con·
trary to the principles of equity and justice. In the southern district
of New York it has been held that a salvage contract may limit the
salvor, but has little or no binding effect upon the other party, and
that a court of admiralty will refuse to enforce such a contract any
further than is reasonable. The Schiedam, 48 Fed. Rep. 923; The
G. W. Jones, Id. 925. The general rule, however, is to give effect to
such a contract, free from fraud, and entered into by the parties freely
and voluntarily, unless the compensation agreed upon is so exorbitant
as to be wholly inequitable and unjust. In the case of The Agnes I.
Grace, 49 Fed. Rep. 662, the value of the property saved was $12,030,
after $1,200 had been expended in repairing the vessel. The contract
provided for the payment of the sum of $5,000, or nearly 50 per cent.
of the salved' property for the salvage service. The court held-
"That a contract of this character is not binding upon the court, and that
in all cases of salvage it is competent forthe court to adjudge and assesf, the
amount of the recovery in accordance with the equities of the case; and, if
it should appear that a contract of this character was an inequitable one, the
court would, of course, disregard it. But wherever a contract has been en.
tered into after due deliberation by the parties, and has not been shown to be
in any respect an inequitable one, it is exceedingly valuable as evidfmce to en-
::tble the court to arrive at a just determination. The court regards this con-
tract as evidence in that light, and not as a conclusive contract; but it is a
most significant and valuable indication of what should be the true amoilllt
of the recovery."

In this case the court held that the contract stipulated but a
moderate charge, and a decree was entered for the libelant for that
amount. The claimants appealed to the circuit court of appeals,
where the judgment and decree of the district court was affirmed.
51 Fed. Rep. 958, 2 C. C. A. 581. The appellate court did not, how-
ever, adopt the views of the judge of the district court as to the law
of the case. It says:
"This cannot be considered as belonging to that class of cases of con-

tract for salvage services where the master, being upon the high seas or on an
unhabited coast, at a distance from all other ald, is absolutely helpless, and
without power to procure assistance other than that offered, and compelled
in consequence to make a hard and inequitable llontract. He was within easy
reach of Savannah, where, had he desired to assume the risk for his owners,
he could have procured lighters and other tugs to render the service."

The court then cites The Helen and George, Swab. 368, The British
Empire, 6 Jllr. 608, and The Wellington, 48 Fed. Rep. 478, referred to
in this opinion, and says:
"Although the amount given may, tmder the circumstances, appear high

tn proporCon to the value of the property saved, this court does not deem it
sufficiently unreasonable to disturb the judgment of the court below."
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i of, ·declare9, in the case of The
,WelUngtl)j!;t,supra, with the additional authority of having been re-
Qelltly aftlrwed,l:Iy the circuit court,pf appeals for the: fifth circuit in
the. it will be u.ccepted as declaring a rule applicable to
the contract now under consideration; and, having determined that
this contractwllS entered into by the. parties freely and voluntarily,
and witho,ut fraud Or duress, it will be 'treated as binding, unless it
appears that the compensation provided for the service is so unreason..
able in amount as to justify the court in setting aside the agreementi
as wholly inequitable and. unjust.
In the case of The Costa nica,. 3 Sawy. 610, that steamer was on

a voyage from Panama. to San Francisco. She became disabled, at
1 o'clock in the morning of October 26, 1874, by the breaking of the
shaft:of her propeller,when she was !tbout 130 miles southward of
San Diego; and about 25 miles off shore. Soon after the a.ccident the
mate was dispatched ina boat, with. orders to proceed to San Diego,
and thence telegraph to the agents of the Pacific Mail Steamship Com-
pany at San Francisco for assistance. At about noon of the same day,
and while proceeding on 11;is way, he was overtaken, when about four
miles.. from San DiegQ,by 'the steamship Newbern. The mate was
recognized by the oillcersof that vessel, and was taken on board. On
beingi!intormed oftheaccident the master of the :Newbern inquired of
themate if t;b.e ,master of the Costa Rica d,esired to be towed into port,
to which'the mate replied that he did not know; that. his orders were
to go to San Diego. He also declined to advise the master of the New-
bern to go to the assistance of the Costa Rica; telling him that the
master.ofifue latter intended to work his ship into Cape Col-
nette. The master of th.e Newbern determined to turn around, and
see if the Costa Rica required. assistance. This he did at about half
past 12 O'clock, and reached the Costa Rica about half past 4 the same
afternoon. The distance run back was about 25 miles. The New-
bern took the disabled steamer in tow, and at about 9 o'clock on the
evening of the succeeding day arrived with her tow off the mouth of
the harbor of San Diego. As no pilot presented himself, the vessels
remained outside until about half past 7 of the succeeding day, when
they entered the port, and at about 9 o'clock the Costa Rica was an-
chored alongside the wharf. The Newbern proceeded on its way to
San Francisco. The distance run by the Newbern after turning back
was about 25 miles. The distance towed was about 110 miles. The
hawsers used in towing belonged to the Costa Rica. The time COD·
sumedin the service was about 401 hours, but to this must be added
the time employed in running back 25 miles,-about 4 hours,-mak
ing a toWsel'vice of 44i hours. The Newbern, while towing the
Costa Rica, was still proceeding towards her port of destination,
though not by the most direct route, nor at her usual rate of speed.
The service was attended by no particular difficulty or danger. The
weather "Was fair, and the sea smooth. At the time the Newbern took
hold of the (Josta Rica the latter was in no immediaoo danger.
With favorable winds she could probably have reached safe anchor-
age at Catpe Colnette in 18 or 20 hours, and San Diego in 4 or 5 days,
but other assistance waa near at hand. The mate of the Costa Rica
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was about to enter the harbor of San Diego to secure assistance from
the company to which the steamer belonged, when the master of the
Newbern learned of the accident to the Costa Rica., and proceeded to
her assistance. In fact, a vessel was dispatched to her assistance
which arrived at San Diego on the morning after the two vessels
reached that port. The value of the Costa Rica., with her cargo and
freight to be earned, was ,24:4,756.64. The value of the Newbern,
with her cargo, was $242,010. For the service of the Newbern Judge
Hoffman awarded the sum of $10,000. The value of the Costa Rica
and her cargo was greater than that of the Sirius, and the value of
the Newbern was greater than that of the Tillamook, but in every
other"respect the circumstances attending the service of the Tilla-
mook were such as to call for at least double the compensation
awarded to the Newbern. The service of the Tillamook commenced
on the morning of February 25th, when she steamed down to South
bay, and termiuated on the lllorning of March 1st, at San Diego, having
consumed five days. Captain Gregory testifies that the total distance
of the towage from South bay to San Diego was 320 miles. The Costa
Rica was towed 110 miles. The Tillamook was actually engaged 98
hours in towing the Sirius; the Newbern 40i hours in towing the
Costa Rica. 'The hawsers used in towing the Co.'3ta Rica belonged
to that vessel; the hawser used in towing the Sirius belonged to the
Tillamook. The Sirius was in a more dangerous position than the
Costa Rica., and the service rendered by the Tillamook possessed more
of the elements of salvage than appear in the service rendered by the
Newbern.
In the case of The Wellington, 48 Fed. Rep. 475, the value of the

salved property is not stated in the opinion of the court; but from the
record in the case it appears that the vessel was of the value of about
$100,000, and the cargo, including freight to be earned, about $25,000,
-total, $125,000. The distance towed was about 544 miles, and the
time consumed in towing a little less than four days. There was an
agreement to pay for the towage service the sum of $15,000, and this
agreement was enforced by the court.
In the case of The Wellington, 52 Fed. Rep. 605, the same vessel

again became the subject of a salvage service. The value of the ves-
sel was $100,000. The distance towed was about 150 miles. '.I'he
time consumed was 26 hours. The owners of the Wellington volun-
tarily paid to the owners of the vessel rendering the service the sum
of $10,000, and this court awarded an additional compensation to the
master of $2,500, and to the crew $100 each. These comparisons, and
others that might be made, indicate that the chful'ge made by the
Tillamook, and incorporated into the contract, was high, approaching
the degree of being deemed unreasonable; but I cannot say, under all
the circumstances, that it is so unreasonable as to be wholly inequita-
ble and unjust. If the amount agreed upon exceedB. somewhat the
accustomed measure of a liberal award, it will not be disturbed, if
deliberately and understandingly assented to, without the judgment
of the promising party being overborne by the distress in which he is
placed. The Adirondack, 2 Fed. Rep. 381. I am therefore of the
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opinion that the contract should b.e enforced by the court, and a de-
cree will accordingly be entered in favor of the libelants for the sum
of $20,000.

APPORTIONMENT OF SALVAGE AWARD.
(January 12, 1893.)

MORROW, District Judge. The libelant and interveners in this
case have asked the court to make distribution amongthe salvqrs of
the amount, of the award under the :contract, in confQrmity with the
admiralty practice in.this elMS of The decree will accordingly
provide' for ,. such distribution. In the performance of the service
provided in the contract the steamer Tillamook was the principal
factor, a;ud she, of course, assumed the risk of failure and disaster.
I will therefore award to her charterers the sum of $13,250.
I think the conduct and service of the master of the Tillamook

entitle him to some special consideration. He promptly procured
additional stores for the Sirius, and offered to take an officer of that
vessel to Ensenada or San Diego for assistance without chal'ge and
without delay. He also engaged in the towage service against the
protest of two of the passengers on his own vessel. It is the policy
of the illw to encourage the rendering of prompt and efficient assist-
ance to vessel in distress, as was done by Oapt. Hamm in this case.
I will therefore award to him the sum of $2,500. In distributing
the remainder of $4,250 among the other officers and crew of the
vessel, consideration will be given to the relation of the services per-
formed, to the extra work required in towing the other vessel, and
the amount of wages paid to each. The decree will accordingly
provide as follows:
'1'0 the first engineer. . . . • • • • . • . . . • . • . • • . • • . . . • • . . • . • . . . • . • • . . • •• $
" " second engineer....•••..••.••.....••••.......•..••.•.•••

.. two firemen, $400 each ..•.••.••...•••••.•..••.••••.••.••

.. first mate .........••...••....••...•.•...•.•.•.•••.•••••
I. I' second mate .

.. cook ...•..•..••••.....•.•.....•.•........•...•••••.••••

.. cabin boy .

.. five seamen, $250 each .••.••••.••....•.••.••••..••••••••

$4,25000
RECAPITULATION.

To the cbftrterers of the Tillamook $13,25000
To the master. . • • • • . • •• • • •• . • •• • • • • •• • • • . • • . • •• •• •• •• •• •• •• • • • 2,500 00
To the other ofIicers and crew. • . • • •• • • •• . • •• •• • . • • •• • . • • •• •• • • • 4,250 00

$20,000 00
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UNITED S'!'ATES v. NORTH BLOOMFIELD GRAVEL MIN. CO.
(Circuit Court, N. D. California. October 5, 1892.)

No. 7,865.
1. FEDERAL COURTS-JURISDICTION.

The question of jUrisdiction may be raised upon the final argument of a
cause in a federal court, and by statute it is made the duty of such court
to dismiss the same, upon its own motion, whenever the want of jurisdic-
tion shall appear.

2. SAME-INTERSTATE COMMERCE-NAVIGABLE STREAMS-OBSTRUC'l'IONS.
By 24 St. at Large, p. 326, appropriations were made for the improvement

of certain rivers in California, with a provision that the balance of such
appropriation should not be used until certain hydraulic mining, hurtful to
nUYigation, had ceased on such rivers, and in the event of its continuance
authorizE'd the secretary of war to institute legal proceedings to prevent the
same. Held, that this legislation was a sufficient assumption of national
jurisdiction over the waters in question, under the commerce clause of the
constitution, to confer upon the federal courts jmisdiction of a suit by the
United States to enjoin the continued deposit of mining debris injuriou!j
to navigation.

8. NA.VIGABLE WATERS-OBSTRUCTIONS-}hNING DEBRIS-INJUNCTION.
In an injunction suit by the United States against a company engaged in

hydraulic mining, alleged to be obstructive of navigation of the waters
in question, it appeared that the operation of defendant's mine had been
enjoined some time prior to the commencement of this suit; that intima·
tion was made in the decree that, when it was satisfactorily shown to the
court that proper impounding reservoirs had been constructed, such decree
would be modified so as to permit resumption of operations; and that the
company, before the bringing of the present suit, had caused to be erected
extensive works, by means of which it impounded upon its own land, and
within its own mine, all materials likely to injure the navigation of the
streams. Held, that an injunction should be denied.

In Equity. Bill b;r the United States against the North Bloom-
field Gravel Mining Company to enjoin it from continuing its hydrau-
lic mining operations so as to obstruct or endanger the navigation of
certain rivers. Injunction denied.
A. L. Rhodes and Alfred Barstow, for complainant.
C. W. Cross, for respondent.

GILBERT, Circuit Judge. This is a suit for an injunction, brought
by the United States, a,s complainant, against the defendant corpora.-
tion. The essential averments of the bill al'e that the mining com·
pany is engaged in hydraulic mining in Nemdft county, and dumping
its debris and tailings in such a way that the sn.me flow into the
South Yuba river, a tributar,Y of the main Yuha. river, thence into the
main Yuba river, thence into the Feather ri and thence into the
Sacramento; that the Yuba river is navigable from Marysville to its
mouth, and the Feather River is navigable from the mouth of the
Yuba to the Sacramento, and that the Sacramento is navigable from
its mouth to the mouth of the Feather; th-'tt heretofore extensive
hydraulic had been carried on upon the western watershed
of the Sierra Nevada mountains, which had done great injury to the
navigable streams referred to; and that the hydraulic mining, as CIlTl-

duo-l;ed by the defendant, had done great injury to said
v .53F.no.7-40


